#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

BENNETT GRIMES,

Appellant,

٧.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed Mar 13 2018 04:32 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

SUPREME COURT CASE NO. 74419

DISTRICT COURT CASE NO. C276163

#### **APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF**

Appeal from Order Denying Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

## **ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT**

RESCH LAW, PLLC d/b/a Conviction Solutions Jamie J. Resch Nevada Bar Number 7154 2620 Regatta Dr., Suite 102 Las Vegas, Nevada, 89128 (702) 483-7360

## **ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT**

## I. JURISDICTION

This is an appeal from the denial of a post-conviction petition for writ of habeas corpus in State v. Bennett Grimes, Case No. C276163. The written judgment of conviction was filed on February 21, 2013. 4 AA 814. The trial court's order denying post-conviction relief was filed November 20, 2017. 6 AA 1263. A timely notice of appeal was filed on November 2, 2017. 6 AA 1261. This Court has appellate jurisdiction over the instant appeal pursuant to NRS 34.575(1), NRS 34.830, NRS 177.015(1)(b), & NRS 177.015(3).

## II. ROUTING STATEMENT (RULE 17)

It appears this matter is presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals, as it is a post-conviction appeal which arises from a Category B felony. See NRAP 17(b)(1). However, this appeal raises an issue of statewide importance in that it alleges <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 128 Nev. Adv. Op. 55, 291 P.3d 1274 (2012) constitutes new law which is being applied against Appellant in violation of the state and federal Ex Post Facto Clauses. The State previously conceded this is an issue of statewide importance that should be decided by the Nevada Supreme Court by citing NRAP 17(a)(13),

(14). See 5 AA 1056. As such Appellant requests the Nevada Supreme Court retain jurisdiction and hear the merits of this matter.

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- A. Whether this Court should entirely disregard the alleged findings of fact and conclusions of law entered below where the trial court declined to make a single finding following an evidentiary hearing other than to deny the petition.
- B. Whether trial or appellate counsel were ineffective in handling a redundant count prior to verdict or sentencing and/or failing to challenge the sentence on direct appeal as a violation of the Ex Post Facto Clause.
- C. Whether trial counsel was ineffective in failing to argue that a steak knife is not a deadly weapon.
- D. Whether appellate counsel was ineffective by failing to challenge the trial court's denial of a motion to dismiss based on failure to gather evidence.
- E. Whether the cumulative effect of errors on direct appeal and the ineffectiveness of trial and appellate counsel warrant reversal of Appellant's convictions and sentences.

## IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Bennett Grimes ("Grimes") was charged by information with Count 1- Attempt Murder With use of a Deadly Weapon in Violation of Temporary Protective Order, Count 2- Burglary While in Possession of a Deadly Weapon in Violation of a Temporary Protective Order, and, Count 3-Battery with use of a Deadly Weapon Constituting Domestic Violence Resulting in Substantial Bodily Harm in Violation of Temporary Protective Order, for acts that allegedly occurred on July 22, 2011 at the home of his estranged wife Aneka Grimes. 1 AA 48. A several day trial commenced October 10, 2012. 1 AA 51. At the conclusion of the trial, Grimes was found guilty on all counts. 4 AA 774.

The State sought punishment based on the habitual criminal statute.

4 AA 776. The trial court ultimately imposed substantial sentences,
including under the lesser habitual statute. 4 AA 814. A particular focus in
this appeal is the sentence imposed on Count Three, which was eight to
twenty years under the lesser habitual statute, consecutive to Count One. 4
AA 815.

AA 816. In addition to his direct appeal, Grimes also filed a motion to correct illegal sentence with the trial court on September 9, 2013. 4 AA 820. On February 27, 2014, this Court denied relief on all claims raised on direct appeal. 5 AA 1025. On February 26, 2016, this Court affirmed the trial court's denial of the motion to correct illegal sentence. 5 AA 1093.

On February 20, 2015, Grimes filed a proper person petition for writ of habeas corpus with the trial court. 4 AA 909. Counsel was appointed and a supplemental petition was filed on May 16, 2017. 5 AA 929. The trial court held an evidentiary hearing on Ground One of the supplemental petition on October 5, 2017. 6 AA 1138. The trial court denied all claims raised in the post-conviction proceedings, and an order to that effect was entered November 20, 2017. 6 AA 1263. Grimes now appeals from the denial of post-conviction relief.

# V. STATEMENT OF FACTS

The facts relevant to this matter are primarily procedural and are somewhat complicated. It may be easiest to understand the overlapping

progression of various stages of the case if matter is organized with those stages grouped, regardless of chronology.

## **Trial Proceedings**

Appellant was charged with stabbing and trying to kill his estranged wife. 1 AA 2. The evidence at trial established that police responded to Aneka Grimes' apartment where they found Appellant holding her in a headlock while repeatedly stabbing her with a steak knife. 2 AA 303-304. Aneka's testimony later established that the steak knife was hers and that Appellant did not have it on him when he entered her apartment. 2 AA 410. Aneka suffered multiple stab wounds but was released from the hospital with pain medication after a short two-day stay. 2 AA 406.

The knife was the subject of a pre-trial request to dismiss because when it was recovered by police, it was covered in blood and apparent fingerprints, yet no forensic testing was done to it. 1 AA 11. The trial court eventually denied the motion. 1 AA 45. The trial testimony ultimately revealed that Appellant's DNA was not found on the knife handle and Aneka's DNA was. 3 AA 632-633.

## Post-Verdict and Sentencing Issues

The verdict was returned on October 15, 2012. 4 AA 774. On December 6, 2012, this Court decided <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 128 Nev. Adv. Op. 55, 291 P.3d 1274 (2012). Sentencing was held over two hearings in February, 2013. 4 AA 788. The bulk of the issues presented in this appeal concern the events of this narrow timeframe.

The February 7, 2013, sentencing was attended by Nadia Hojjat from the Public Defender's Office. As part of the defense argument, Ms. Hojjat argued Count Three was redundant and that she was "objecting to adjudication of Count 3 in this case, the battery with use of a deadly weapon constituting domestic violence resulting in substantial bodily harm in violation of a temporary protective order." 4 AA 796. The Court noted: "You're right. I mean, does the State have any objection to it being dismissed?" 4 AA 796 (Emphasis Added).

The State responded that an opinion "just came out" and provided a copy of this Court's decision in <u>Jackson</u>. 4 AA 796. The Court continued that it was "not quite sure you can be convicted of both. So I'd like to see

what the case says." 4 AA 797. The trial court judge specifically stated "I don't know that it would be a new law. But I don't know, let me read it first." 4 AA 797. As a result, the matter was continued to February 12. 4 AA 799.

Unfortunately, Ms. Hojjat could not be at the continued sentencing hearing, and it was instead attended by Roger Hillman. Mr. Hillman shallowly noted that the "Supreme Court's said what they've said" regarding Jackson. 4 AA 801. However, he did add that "my understanding is that the case wasn't published until after this case was over with. And I think that changes things and the fact that it seems to be ex post facto to me." 4 AA 801. Mr. Hillman noted, and the trial court agreed, that he also recalled discussing Count Three merging while the trial was ongoing, but that said discussion was in chambers and there was no record of it. 4 AA 801.

At sentencing, the trial court seemed to reject the idea that <u>Jackson</u> was a new rule. The trial judge stated: "I'm not quite sure this is a new rule, it's not a new rule." 4 AA 802. Mr. Hillman stated "Yeah" and contended

"And in effect what that does, that makes us ineffective in our representations of the truth for Mr. Grimes." 4 AA 802. The State provided some argument that <u>Jackson</u> was not being applied ex post facto. 4 AA 802. Ultimately, Mr. Hillman did not outright move to dismiss Count Three. Instead, the trial court proceeded to sentence Appellant on all counts including Count Three, and, it ran Count Three consecutively to the other counts. 4 AA 812.

## **Direct Appeal**

A timely notice of appeal was filed. 4 AA 816. The direct appeal was handled by Deborah Westbrook of the Public Defender's Office. The direct appeal contained no issues related to the dismissal, redundancy, or potential ex post facto nature of Count Three. 5 AA 962.

# Motion to Correct Illegal Sentence

While the direct appeal was being litigated, the Public Defender's

Office also filed a Motion to Correct Illegal Sentence on Appellant's behalf.

4 AA 820. The motion included a declaration by Ms. Hojjat concerning

possible ineffectiveness regarding how the <u>Jackson</u> issue was dealt with.

This included specific reference to conversations during trial where "All parties agreed that the Defendant could not be adjudicated of both Count 1 and Count 3." 4 AA 822. Ms. Hojjat further contended that Mr. Hillman "objected to the adjudication of Count 3 based on the ex post facto application of Jackson" during the second sentencing hearing. 4 AA 822. The motion went on to argue that Count Three was redundant under the law in effect at the time Appellant committed the offenses, and that Jackson, which eliminated the redundancy doctrine in Nevada, was being applied in violation of the Ex Post Facto Clause. 4 AA 823-824.

The State opposed the motion, primarily arguing that an Ex Post

Facto violation claim fell outside the narrow scope of claims which could be raised in a motion to correct illegal sentence. However, the State further contended that <u>Jackson</u> was not new law, and instead was "doctrinal housekeeping long foreshadowed" by this Court's prior decisions. 4 AA 856. The State later filed a supplemental response which, while heavily laced with personal attacks on Grimes' attorneys, continued to assert the <u>Jackson</u> decision was not unforeseeable or unexpected. 4 AA 867.

Argument on the motion was heard October 3, 2013. 4 AA 882. The trial court stated upon calling the case that "it's my position we resolved all of this at the time of sentencing. This is rearguing what we did at the time of sentencing." 4 AA 884. Counsel for Grimes disagreed, and went on to explain why the issue was presented in this motion and not on direct appeal, which were (1) the page limitations of fast track briefing, and (2) because the issue "needed to be preserved in a more proper fashion." 4 AA 888. Ultimately, counsel argued the primary point that "Applying Jackson at all in this case violates ex post facto." 4 AA 896.

The State's position was again that <u>Jackson</u> was not unforeseeable. 4 AA 900. Defense counsel continued to insist that the defense bar was "blindsided" by <u>Jackson</u>, which reversed "25 years" of redundancy caselaw. 4 AA 901. Ultimately, the trial court took the matter under advisement. A written order denying the motion was not issued until May 1, 2015. 4 AA 907. The order did not provide any insight as to the basis for the denial of the motion.

The denial of the motion was also appealed to the Nevada Supreme Court. 5 AA 1036. The State's first and main argument is particularly relevant to the instant appeal, because the State contended the motion was an improper attempt to rehear an issue already heard at the time of sentencing. 5 AA 1062 ("...the district court already considered at the sentencing hearing whether applying <u>Jackson</u> [citation omitted] and adjudicating Grimes guilty of both Counts 1 and 3 would constitute an ex post facto violation." The State further argued the motion to correct illegal sentence could not be used to assert an ex post facto claim. 5 AA 1064.

Ultimately, this Court denied the appeal from the motion to correct illegal sentence on the ground that the arguments fell outside the narrow scope of claims permissible in such a motion. 5 AA 1093.

# The Missing Transcript

During the post-conviction proceedings, it came to light that the transcript from the February 7, 2013, sentencing hearing, although certified as complete and accurate, was in fact not so. An amended transcript from that sentencing hearing was filed on September 6, 2017. 5 AA 1123.

The issue with the transcript is that it was not complete: the case was recalled and further proceedings were had, but those proceedings were not originally transcribed. The previously un-transcribed portion of the hearing revealed that Ms. Hojjat had in fact argued to the court and stated her belief that the issue of whether Grimes could be adjudicated on Count 3 was discussed during the trial. 5 AA 1134. The trial court specifically stated "Oh, I'm sure it was, and I'm sure I said that it would be dismissed, okay?" 5 AA 1134. The court went on to state that it could not be held to that "if there's case law that says differently," referring to the Jackson decision. 5 AA 1135. Nonetheless, the trial court judge repeated several times that she did inform the parties during trial that Count 3 would be dismissed as redundant. 5 AA 1135.

## **Post-Conviction**

In May, 2017, a supplemental post-conviction petition was filed that alleged the ineffectiveness of trial and appellate counsel with respect to several issues, including primarily the handling of the ex post facto issue. 5 AA 929. An evidentiary hearing was held on the ex post facto issues on

October 5, 2017. 6 AA 1138. Ms. Hojjat, Mr. Hillman, and Ms. Westbrook all testified as witnesses.

Mr. Hillman testified first, and explained the strategy at trial was that the defense expected Count Three to merge with Count One if Grimes was convicted of both. 6 AA 1145. Mr. Hillman explained that if Grimes was convicted on both counts, he would move at sentencing that Count Three be dismissed. 6 AA 1145. Mr. Hillman recalled a meeting in chambers during the trial wherein the court and State agreed that Count Three would merge with Count One. 6 AA 1147.

The trial judge interrupted during this line of questioning to note: "I mean, <u>Jackson</u> came out, which made it abundantly clear that they did not merge. Are you trying to get at whether there was an agreement?" 6 AA 1148. Mr. Hillman explained the defense did not move to dismiss Count Three during trial because of the belief of all parties that it would merge with Count One. 6 AA 1149.

With respect to the <u>Jackson</u> decision, Mr. Hillman explained that Ms.

Hojjat had emailed him prior to the second sentencing with arguments she

wanted him to make. 6 AA 1150. The content of the email was to remind Mr. Hillman to argue that <u>Jackson</u> was new law and applying it to Grimes' case would be an ex post facto violation. 6 AA 1151. Mr. Hillman stated that he *did* argue that <u>Jackson</u> was ex post facto during the sentencing, but that he did not specifically move to dismiss Count Three at sentencing, <u>and</u> that he should have.<sup>1</sup>

The trial judge intervened to note that "Well, he was sentenced on Count 3, so if he asked for it to be dismissed it was clearly denied." 6 AA 1151. Mr. Hillman explored the issue further but the ultimate conclusion remained unchanged: He did use the words "ex post facto" at sentencing but did not specifically request Count Three to be dismissed. 6 AA 1152-1153. The trial court judge is correct also: To the extent this could be read as a challenge to Grimes being sentenced on Count Three, it was denied because the court proceeded to sentence Grimes on that count. 6 AA

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>There were numerous admissions of ineffectiveness during the evidentiary hearing, which Appellant will track as they are discussed. This was admission #1.

1153.<sup>2</sup> Asked if he felt the issue was properly preserved for appellate review, Mr. Hillman vacillated and ultimately mused "I don't know that I was direct enough about it." 6 AA 1154.

At this point, the trial court again intervened with commentary that suggests the trial court judge did not believe <u>Jackson</u> constituted new law.

6 AA 1154. Mr. Hillman continued that he did in fact believe <u>Jackson</u> was a change in the law that affected cases on a go-forward basis. 6 AA 1155.

Mr. Hillman also recalled that Ms. Hojjat did move to dismiss Count Three at the first sentencing hearing. 6 AA 1161. Asked specifically why no action was taken to dismiss Count Three between the time of the verdict and sentencing, Mr. Hillman admitted he should have "and I think that was a mistake."

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> It is worth noting here: The State has taken the position in these proceedings that the ex post facto issue with respect to Count Three was fully argued, litigated, and thus preserved by Mr. Hillman at the time of sentencing. 5 AA 1061-1062. The State has effectively conceded that this issue was properly preserved for appellate review at the time of sentencing. <sup>3</sup> Admission of ineffectiveness #2.

Ms. Hojjat then testified, and she generally mirrored Mr. Hillman's testimony concerning the reasons for not requesting a merger prior to verdict. 6 AA 1168-1169. She further specifically documented the conversation in chambers where "everybody" agreed the counts would merge. 6 AA 1170. She also explained the effect of <u>Jackson</u>: that a new case came out now held Grimes could be convicted of both Count One and Count Three. 6 AA 1171.

Ms. Hojjat further explained that she attended the first sentencing, and that she moved to dismiss Count Three at that time based on the ex post facto nature of <u>Jackson</u>. 6 AA 1172. She explained that the trial court wanted to review <u>Jackson</u>, which is why a second sentencing was set. 6 AA 1173. She further explained that she emailed Mr. Hillman to make sure he would argue for dismissal of Count Three on ex post facto grounds. 6 AA 1173. Much later, Ms. Hojjat reviewed the transcript from the second sentencing, and found that Mr. Hillman did not argue the items recommended in the email. 6 AA 1175.

Ms. Hojjat noted that the ex post facto issue did not end up being raised on direct appeal, although she believed it "was a great issue." 6 AA 1176. Ms. Hojjat then provided an explanation that, after post-conviction proceedings were initiated, she realized that one of the transcripts was missing part of her argument from the first sentencing. 6 AA 1177. The trial court appeared surprised by the notion, and Ms. Hojjat explained that when the case was recalled at the first sentencing, although the transcript was certified as complete, it did not include the actual recalled portion of the argument. 6 AA 1179-1180.

It was for this reason that Ms. Hojjat recalled telling appellate counsel that the trial court had acknowledged the discussions in chambers about the dismissal of Count Three, yet there was no record of that discussion. 6 AA 1181. Ms. Hojjat went on to explain that the missing transcript portion did contain agreement by the trial court that Count Three was discussed in chambers and was agreed to be dismissed. 6 AA 1183. Ms. Hojjat explained that she ultimately figured all of this out by reviewing the court minutes, which did reference the recalled hearing. Ms. Hojjat explained

that appellate counsel could have also reviewed the court minutes and detected the missing transcript issue while the direct appeal was ongoing.

6 AA 1184.<sup>4</sup>

Ms. Hojjat explained that she had wanted Mr. Hillman to make ex post facto arguments and detrimental reliance arguments at sentencing. 6 AA 1184. Ms. Hojjat stated that she believed the ex post facto issue was sufficiently raised at sentencing, was preserved for appeal and "should've been appealed." 6 AA 1185.<sup>5</sup>

On cross-examination, there was a lengthy series of questions about whether <u>Jackson</u> was new law and what it meant if it wasn't. Ms. Hojjat repeatedly explained she felt it was new, but that if it wasn't, then she was ineffective to the extent that she advised Grimes that Count Three could ever merge with Count One. 6 AA 1207-1208. Ms. Hojjat stated on redirect that <u>Jackson</u> was in her view "completely unforeseeable." 6 AA 1210.

<sup>4</sup> Admission of ineffectiveness #3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Admission of ineffectiveness #4.

Finally, Deborah Westbrook testified about her work as the attorney who handled the direct appeal. Ms. Westbrook stated she was well familiar with <u>Jackson</u> because her husband (also a public defender) handled that case. 6 AA 1218. Ms. Westbrook also recalled the email discussed previously, in which Mr. Hillman was advised to make a record of the expost facto issue and detrimental reliance issue. 6 AA 1218.

In a break from the prior testimony, Ms. Westbrook took the position that Mr. Hillman "conceded the ex post facto issue" at the second sentencing. 6 AA 1219.<sup>6</sup> This concession "made it so that I could not raise ex post facto in the direct appeal." 6 AA 1220.

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