IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Electronically Filed  
Apr 10 2018 03:35 p.m.  
Elizabeth A. Brown  
Clerk of Supreme Court

BENNETT GRIMES,  
Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,  
Respondent.

Case No. 74419

**RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF**

**Appeal From Denial of Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus  
Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County**

JAMIE J. RESCH, ESQ.  
Nevada Bar #007154  
Resch Law, PLLC dba  
Conviction Solutions  
2620 Regatta Drive, Suite 102  
Las Vegas, Nevada 89128  
(702) 483-7360

STEVEN B. WOLFSON  
Clark County District Attorney  
Nevada Bar #001565  
Regional Justice Center  
200 Lewis Avenue  
Post Office Box 552212

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

Even if a defendant can demonstrate that his counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness, he must still demonstrate prejudice and show a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the result of the trial would have been different. McNelton v. State, 115 Nev. 396, 403, 990 P.2d 1263, 1268 (1999) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687, 104 S. Ct. at 2064). “A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.” Id. (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687-89, 694, 104 S. Ct. at 2064-65, 2068).

The Nevada Supreme Court has held “that a habeas corpus petitioner must prove the disputed factual allegations underlying his ineffective-assistance claim by a preponderance of the evidence.” Means v. State, 120 Nev. 1001, 1012, 103 P.3d 25, 33 (2004). Furthermore, claims of ineffective assistance of counsel asserted in a

petition for post-conviction relief must be supported with specific factual allegations, which if true, would entitle the petitioner to relief. Hargrove v. State, 100 Nev. 498, 502, 686 P.2d 222, 225 (1984). “Bare” and “naked” allegations are not sufficient, nor are those belied and repelled by the record. Id. NRS 34.735(6) states in relevant part, “[Petitioner] *must* allege specific facts supporting the claims in the petition[.] . . . Failure to allege specific facts rather than just conclusions may cause your petition to be dismissed.” (emphasis added).

**a. The District Court Did Not Err in Finding that Trial Counsel Was Not Ineffective for Not Moving to Dismiss Count 3 at Trial**

Grimes argues that trial counsel was deficient for failing to move the court to dismiss Count 3. AOB 35 – 42. However, the district court did not err by denying the Petition because Grimes failed to demonstrate that counsel was deficient.

Grimes claims that it was counsel’s understanding that he could not be adjudicated guilty of both Count 1 and Count 3 because they were redundant.<sup>1</sup> AOB 28 – 42. However, Grimes’ position is illogical because if that is the case, then counsel was not deficient for failing to move to vacate Count 3 during trial because (1) Grimes had not yet been convicted and such a motion may have been redundant anyway, and (2) counsel was under the reasonable belief that Grimes could not be

---

<sup>1</sup> The State does not concede that this was actually the state of the law existing at the time, and has previously argued that Jackson v. State, 128 Nev. 598, 291 P.3d 1274 (2012), merely clarified existing law. 4 AA 848 – 57, 863 – 68.



adjudicated of it. At the time of trial, waiting to challenge Count 3 until it became a live issue was a reasonable strategic decision that is now “almost unchallengeable.” Dawson, 108 Nev. at 117, 825 P.2d at 596.

If Grimes was correct that the law at the time prevented him from being adjudicated guilty of both Count 1 and 3, then counsel had no reason to raise the issue during trial and could not be ineffective for failing to do so. Nika v. State, 124 Nev. 1272, 1289, 198 P.3d 839, 851 (2008). Alternatively, if Grimes was incorrect and Jackson merely clarified, but did not change, the law, then counsel could not have been ineffective for failing to argue incorrect law. 128 Nev. 598, 291 P.3d 1274. Accordingly, the district court did not err in finding that counsel was not ineffective.

Second, even if Grimes was able to show that counsel was deficient, he could not demonstrate prejudice sufficient to warrant relief. Nothing in the record demonstrates that a motion to dismiss Count 3 would have been successful. Nowhere in the trial transcripts is there even a passing comment to a discussion that was had off the record. The evidence at the evidentiary hearing established that a motion to dismiss during trial would have likely been unsuccessful because even defense counsel believed that the State could put forth both counts to the jury. 6 AA 1253. Further, defense counsel acknowledged that this issue would not have been cognizable until after a jury verdict and after the district court adjudicated Grimes of both Counts 1 and 3. Id. Thus, even if the district court *had* entertained such a

motion, there is nothing to indicate that the motion would have been granted *prior to the jury ever finding Petitioner guilty on any count* other than counsel's statements after the fact. Further still, even if such a motion had been entertained, and even if the district court granted it, the result would have been error under Jackson.

Based on the law Grimes claims was in effect during trial, he cannot demonstrate that counsel was deficient for failing to move to dismiss Count 3 because the decision to wait until it was a live issue was “[w]ithin the range of competence demanded of attorneys in criminal cases.” Jackson v. Warden, 91 Nev. 430, 432, 537 P.2d 473, 474 (1975). Accordingly, the district court did not err in denying the Petition.

**b. Appellate Counsel Was Not Deficient for Challenging The Sentence Via A Motion to Correct Illegal Sentence**

Grimes argues that counsel was deficient for raising a challenge to the sentence in a Motion to Correct Illegal Sentence rather than on appeal. AOB 39 – 42.

There is a strong presumption that appellate counsel's performance was reasonable and fell within “the wide range of reasonable professional assistance.” See United States v. Aguirre, 912 F.2d 555, 560 (2nd Cir. 1990); citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689, 104 S. Ct. at 2065. A claim of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel must satisfy the two-prong test set forth by Strickland. Kirksey v. State, 112 Nev. 980, 998, 923 P.2d 1102, 1114 (1996). In order to satisfy Strickland's second

prong, the defendant must show that the omitted issue would have had a reasonable probability of success on appeal. Id.

The professional diligence and competence required on appeal involves “winnowing out weaker arguments on appeal and focusing on one central issue if possible, or at most on a few key issues.” Jones v. Barnes, 463 U.S. 745, 751-52, 103 S. Ct. 3308, 3313 (1983). In particular, a “brief that raises every colorable issue runs the risk of burying good arguments . . . in a verbal mound made up of strong and weak contentions.” Id. at 753, 103 S. Ct. at 3313. For judges to second-guess reasonable professional judgments and impose on appointed counsel a duty to raise every 'colorable' claim suggested by a client would disserve the very goal of vigorous and effective advocacy.” Id. at 754, 103 S. Ct. at 3314.

While counsel certainly *could have* raised the issue on appeal, counsel gave two persuasive reasons to think that it was a better strategic decision to raise the issue first in district court.

First, counsel was engaged in the “winnowing out” of weaker arguments in favor of those that could have provided more relief. Jones, 463 U.S. at 751-52, 103 S. Ct. at 3313. Each of the grounds raised on appeal could have resulted in a new trial or reversal of Grimes’ conviction, while the Jackson issue could have, at most, overturned a portion of Grimes’ sentence by vacating Count 3. Given both the professional diligence and competence required on appeal, counsel was justified in

presenting the arguments with the potential to vacate Grimes' entire conviction rather than diluting those arguments, or cutting them entirely, in favor of a complex issue that would have required the vast portion of a fast track brief.

Second, counsel's reasoning that the issue required additional briefing, and the belief that the district court would be best equipped to decide the issue on the first instance in light of arguments already presented during sentencing, was reasonable. Having already heard the arguments of counsel, the district court was readily familiar with the issue and, if the sentence were illegal, could more easily correct it. Further, if counsel was unsuccessful, the denial of the Motion to Correct Illegal Sentence could be, and in fact was, appealed. Therefore, counsel was not deficient in deciding not to include the issue within the limited confines of a fast track brief.

Grimes argues that counsel was deficient for actually raising the issue within a Motion to Correct Illegal Sentence. AOB 39 – 42. A motion to correct illegal sentence is appropriate when challenging the facial illegality of a sentence. Edwards v. State, 112 Nev. 704, 918 P.2d 321, 324 (1996)). The district court's denial of Grimes' Motion, on the merits, does not make counsel ineffective for choosing to present the argument through that vehicle.

Just because the district court denied Grimes' argument on the merits, and this Court held that the district court did not abuse its discretion in doing so, does not

demonstrate either deficiency or prejudice. Given the extensive record created by the Motion to Correct Illegal Sentence, in addition to that created during Appeal 67598, had this Court found Grimes' arguments had merit it could easily have decided so by recognizing Grimes' argument in the Reply To Fast Track Statement and agreeing that facial invalidity was argued in order to reach the substantive merits. Instead, this Court decided to let the district court's decision stand with little to no additional comment.

Appellate counsel was not deficient, and even if appellate counsel were deficient the record indicates that this Court was unlikely to grant Grimes' relief. Thus, Grimes cannot demonstrate prejudice. Accordingly, the district court did not err by denying Grimes' Petition.

**c. Counsel Was Not Deficient for Not Arguing that A Steak Knife Was Not A Deadly Weapon when Petitioner Stabbed The Victim 21 Times with One**

A "deadly weapon" is "[a]ny instrument which, if used in the ordinary manner contemplated by its design and construction, will or is likely to cause substantial bodily harm or death; or [a]ny weapon, device, instrument, material or substance which, under the circumstances in which it is used, attempted to be used or threatened to be used, is readily capable of causing substantial bodily harm or death." NRS 193.165(6)(a)-(b).

Grimes cites to Knigh t v. State, 116 Nev. 140, 993 P.2d 67, 72 (2000), for the proposition that a steak knife is not a deadly weapon. AOB 43. This argument is preposterous. While a steak knife, without more, might not necessarily be a deadly weapon, here Grimes stabbed the victim 21 times with the weapon and left scars so severe that the district court, at sentencing, stated that the scars remained visible years later:

I sat up here and watched that woman testify and looked over at her and saw that – just looking at her, not even trying, and I saw the horrible horrendous scars left on her, like, area that you can see just in normal clothing. Horrific scars that she has to live with the rest of her life. I think the girl’s lucky that she’s alive, if you want my opinion. How many times was she stabbed? ... I mean, 21 times. 21 times.

4 AA 806. Further, the jury convicted Petitioner of attempted murder. 4 AA 814 – 15. By definition, the jury must have believed that Grimes was attempting to kill the victim in order to convict him of attempted murder. In that context, anything at all, from a pencil to a pillow, could be considered a deadly weapon.

Trial counsel was not deficient for failing to make a futile argument. Ennis, 122 Nev. at 706, 137 P.3d at 1103. Further, even if counsel were somehow deficient, Grimes cannot demonstrate prejudice because no reasonable juror could have believed both that Grimes attempted to murder the victim with a steak knife and that the steak knife was not, as used, a deadly weapon. Therefore, the district court did not err in denying Grimes’ Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus.

**d. Appellate Counsel Was Not Deficient For Deciding Not To Argue That This Court Erroneously Denied Appellant’s Motion To Dismiss For Failure To Gather Evidence**

Grimes argues that appellate counsel should have argued, during the first appeal, that the district court erred in denying his Motion to Dismiss for Failure to Gather Evidence. AOB 44.

Appealing this issue would have been frivolous, and was appropriately “winnow[ed] out.” Jones, 463 U.S. at 751-52, 103 S. Ct. at 3313. Grimes concedes that any DNA or fingerprint evidence was properly preserved, even until trial. AOB 44 – 46. Further, Grimes has not demonstrated that the State had any obligation whatsoever to test the knife for DNA or fingerprints. Grimes does not contend that the State prevented him from testing the knife at any time. Instead, Grimes simply chose not to. Given that Grimes did not test the knife, despite its availability, appellate counsel could not reasonably argue that the State was under any obligation to perform Grimes’ discovery for him.

If, however, Grimes is arguing that appellate counsel should have claimed ineffective assistance of counsel in the first appeal, based on Grimes’ failure to test the knife, such a claim still fails because an ineffective assistance of counsel claim is not appropriately raised on appeal. Franklin, 110 Nev. at 752, 877 P.2d at 1059. Therefore, such a claim would have been summarily denied, if it were even considered at all.

Finally, the district court did not err in denying the motion in the first instance. A defendant who contends his attorney was ineffective because he did not adequately investigate must show how a better investigation would have rendered a more favorable outcome probable. Molina v. State, 120 Nev. 185, 192, 87 P.3d 533, 538 (2004). Were the knife tested, only two outcomes were possible. First, Grimes' DNA and/or fingerprints could have been found on the knife – an outcome not beneficial for Grimes and one that would not have led to a more favorable outcome at trial. Second, the DNA and/or fingerprint test could have been inconclusive and/or could have failed to identify the DNA and/or fingerprint on the knife as Grimes'. In fact, given that Grimes merely received a scratch on his finger, while he stabbed the victim 21 times with the knife, in all probability at least the apparent blood on the knife was the victim's. As such, Grimes fails to demonstrate how testing the knife would have led to a better outcome at trial. Grimes fails to indicate how the Nevada Supreme Court could have found as much given that (1) the knife was available for Grimes to test, (2) the State was under no obligation to test the knife, and (3) the knife was not actually tested. Such a bare assertion is insufficient to warrant relief. Hargrove, 100 Nev. at 502, 686 P.2d at 225. Therefore, the district court did not err by denying Grimes' Petition.

///

///



### III. CUMULATIVE ERROR DOES NOT APPLY BECAUSE THERE WERE NO ERRORS

Grimes asserts a claim of cumulative error in the context of ineffective assistance of counsel. AOB 47 – 49. The Nevada Supreme Court has never held that instances of ineffective assistance of counsel can be cumulated; and it is the State’s position that they cannot. However, even if they could be, there was no single instance of ineffective assistance needed to cumulate. See United States v. Rivera, 900 F.2d 1462, 1471 (10th Cir. 1990) (“[A] cumulative-error analysis should evaluate only the effect of matters determined to be error, not the cumulative effect of non-errors.”). Furthermore, Grimes’ claim is without merit. “Relevant factors to consider in evaluating a claim of cumulative error are (1) whether the issue of guilt is close, (2) the quantity and character of the error, and (3) the gravity of the crime charged.” Mulder v. State, 116 Nev. 1, 17, 992 P.2d 845, 855 (2000). Furthermore, any errors that occurred at trial were minimal in quantity and character, and a defendant “is not entitled to a perfect trial, but only a fair trial.” Ennis v. State, 91 Nev. 530, 533, 539 P.2d 114, 115 (1975).

Here, the issue of guilt was not close because Grimes stabbed the victim 21 times in front of numerous people, including a police officer. 2 AA 301 – 07. Additionally, there was no error, so there is nothing to cumulate. While the crimes of which Grimes was convicted are serious, serious crimes of which a defendant is convicted absent error are not sufficient, by themselves, to warrant relief. While

Grimes addresses the fact that the Nevada Supreme Court found some errors on appeal, all errors which the Nevada Supreme Court found were harmless beyond a reasonable doubt and did not affect the integrity of his conviction. Therefore, the district court did not err by denying Grimes' Petition.

**CONCLUSION**

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should affirm the District Court's ruling and deny Grimes' appeal.